

# General Terms and Conditions

## Spot Market Products in Electric Energy

## 24.02.2025

CCP Austria Abwicklungsstelle für Börsengeschäfte GmbH Strauchgasse 1-3 | 1010 Vienna | Austria | +43 1 5332244 | office@ccpa.at | www.ccpa.at IBAN AT141000031105133005 | BIC OEKOATWWXXX FN 251990z | VAT ATU61107402 | LEI 529900QF6QY66QULSI15 | Commercial Court Vienna

## Table of contents

Part I	General	1
§1	Definitions	1
§ 2	Objective and scope	5
§ 3	Clearing house and clearing systems	5
§ 4	Finality provisions	6
Part II	Participation in clearing	8
§ 5	Clearing members and Non-Clearing Members	8
§ 6	Membership in clearing	8
§ 7	Admission requirements	9
§ 8	General Clearing Membership	10
§ 9	Termination and suspension of the clearing agreement	. 10
§ 10	Dissolution of the clearing agreement by CCPA	. 11
§11	Suspension and termination of a Non-Clearing Member's clearing service agreement	. 12
§ 12 passi	Compliance with the General Terms and Conditions of Business and of the clearing agreement ng on of information and data	
Part III	Market coupling counterparty	. 15
§13	Market coupling counterparty	. 15
Part IV	Financial clearing	. 16
§14	Clearing facilities	. 16
§ 15	Cash accounts and securities accounts	16
§ 16	Financial settlement	17
§ 17	Clearing calendar	. 17
Part V	Physical fulfilment	. 19
§ 18	Fulfilment of obligations	. 19
§19	Physical settlement	. 19
§ 20	Delivery and acceptance conditions	. 20
Part VI	Clearing collateral	21
§21	Providing the required clearing collateral	. 21
§ 22	Type of clearing collateral	. 21
§ 23	Calculation of clearing collateral	22
§ 24	Credit assessment	22
§ 25	Margin requirements	23
§ 26	Position limits	23
§ 27	Default fund	23

§ 28 or term	Release of clearing collateral and default fund contributions as well as offsetting due to realisation ination	
Part VII	Default	
§ 29	Definition and occurrence of default	
§ 30	Technical default	
§31	Consequences of default	
§ 32	Realisation of clearing collateral	
§ 33	Coverage of uncovered losses	
Part VIII	Final provisions	
§ 34	Complaint management	
§ 35	Possibility of objections and court jurisdiction	
§ 36	Assignment of rights and obligations	
§ 37	Liability	
§ 38	Official notices	
§ 39	Supplements and applicable law	
§ 40	Amendments to these General Terms and Conditions	

## Part I General

### §1 Definitions

The following definitions serve to clarify the terms used in these General Terms and Conditions and apply exclusively to these General Terms and Conditions:

10:15 a.m. auction   10:15	EXAA auction for electric power green electricity and electric power of un-
Uhr Auktion 12:00 p.m. market cou- pling auction   12:00 Uhr Market Coupling Auktion	known origin EXAA auction, organized as a joint market coupling auction among NEMOs, where a uniform day-ahead market coupling product according to Article 40 CACMR is offered by EXAA in its function as a NEMO within the meaning of Article 2 para. 23 CACMR ("day-ahead-market-coupling")
Austrian Financial Collate- ral Act   Finanzsicherhei- tengesetz	Federal Law Gazette I No.117/2003 as amended; national implementation of Directive 2002/47/EC on financial collateral ("Financial Collateral Directive")
Austrian Settlement Fina- lity Act   Finalitätsgesetz	Federal Law Gazette I No. 123/1999 as amended; national implementation of Directive 98/26/EC on settlement finality in payment and securities settlement systems ("Finality Directive")
Austrian Stock Exchange Act  Börsegesetz 2018	Federal Law Gazette I No. 107/2017 107/2017 as amended; Federal Act on Stock Exchanges and General Commodity Exchanges 2018 (Austrian Stock Ex- change Act)
Balance responsible party   Bilanzgruppenverant- wortlicher / Bilanzkreis- verantworticher	The responsible entity for market participants and balancing group coordina- tors representing the balancing group
Balancing energy costs   Ausgleichsenergiekosten	The costs that result from the use of balancing energy
Balancing group   Bilanz- gruppe	The consolidation of suppliers and customers into a virtual group, within which the production (supply schedules, feed-ins) and consumption (delivery sched- ules, off-takes) is balanced
Balancing group contract   Bilanzgruppenvertrag / Bi- lanzkreisvertrag	All contractual agreements concluded between the transmission system oper- ator and the clearing member as well as between the transmission system op- erator and CCPA regarding the clearing and delivery of electricity exchange transactions (in particular the standard balancing contract for electricity con- cerning the management of balancing groups, valid from 1 October 2024)
Balancing group coordina- tor   Bilanzgruppenkoordi- nator	A natural or legal person, or a registered partnership that operates as a clear- ing and settlement agent
Bidding zone   Gebots- zone	Group of delivery zones, where in the course of an auction a uniform price per product is attained during the day-ahead market coupling
CACMR   CACM-VO	Capacity Allocation and Congestion Management Regulation, abbreviation for the Commission Regulation (EU) 2015/1222 of 24 July 2015 on the definition of a guideline for capacity allocation and congestion management
Cash collateral accounts and securities collateral accounts   Sicherheiten- konten und -depots	The cash and securities accounts mentioned in § 15 on which clearing collateral is deposited

Cash settlement accounts	The accounts mentioned in § 15 used for clearing of transactions
Abwicklungskonten CCPA   CCPA	CCP Austria Abwicklungsstelle für Börsengeschäfte GmbH with its registered office in Vienna and the business address Strauchgasse 1-3, 1010 Vienna, rec- orded in the companies register of the Commercial Court of Vienna under FN 251 990 z; it is a central counterparty charged by the exchange operating com-
	pany Wiener Börse AG pursuant to § 9 para. 3 Austrian Stock Exchange Act to act as clearing house for the clearing of electricity exchange transactions con- cluded on the Vienna Stock Exchange in its function as a general commodity exchange; furthermore, the NEMO delegated to CCPA the clearing and settle- ment tasks in the uniform day-ahead market coupling referred to in Article 68 of the CACMR in accordance with Article 81 of the CACMR
Clearing agreement   Ab- wicklungsvereinbarung	An agreement between a clearing member and CCPA defining the rights and obligations related to the clearing membership and the direct participation of the clearing member in clearing
Clearing calendar   Ab- wicklungskalender	Comprises all the essential dates and periods for clearing as defined by CCPA in accordance with the exchange operating company and EXAA considering the availability of the clearing facilities; the clearing calendar is issued for each given calendar year
Clearing collateral   Ab- wicklungssicherheiten	Refers to the clearing collateral ("margins") CCPA requires from clearing mem- bers in the form of specific, eligible cash deposits, bank guarantees and secu- rities for the purpose of limiting its credit risk exposure, as well as to cash bal- ances of a clearing member in default pursuant to § 31 para. 2
Clearing day   Abwick- lungstag	The banking day following a trade day with the exception of trade days on weekends and public holidays, for which the clearing takes place on the sec- ond following banking day
Clearing facilities   Ab- wicklungseinrichtungen	Settlement bank and collateral custodian
Clearing members   Clea- ringmitglieder	Clearing Members that meet the membership requirements of CCPA at all times and with whom CCPA has a valid clearing agreement. Clearing members are responsible for the fulfilment of any financial obligations arising from membership and liable to CCPA. There are two forms of clearing membership, namely General Clearing Members (GCM) and Direct Clearing Members (DCM).
Clearing service agree- ment   Abwicklungsser- vice-Vereinbarung	An agreement between a Non-Clearing Member and a General Clearing Mem- ber defining the rights and obligations related to the indirect participation of the Non-Clearing Member in clearing and according to which the General Clearing Member commits itself to enter into the transactions of the Non- Clearing Member pursuant to § 6 para. 5 and to clear such transactions
Client segregation   Kun- den-Kontentrennung	The keeping of separate records and settlement accounts enabling each Gen- eral Clearing Member to distinguish in accounts with CCPA between its own transactions and collateral and those of Non-Clearing Members
Collateral custodian   Si- cherheitenverwahrer	An authorized credit institution or a central bank, which operates the safe- keeping of clearing collateral on behalf of CCPA, whereby CCPA currently uti- lises the services of OeKB CSD GmbH with its registered office in Vienna and the business address Strauchgasse 1-3, 1010 Vienna, recorded in the compa- nies register of the Commercial Court of Vienna under FN 428 085 m as well as the services of Oesterreichische Kontrollbank Aktiengesellschaft (OeKB AG) with its registered office in Vienna and the business address Am Hof 4, 1010

	Vienna, recorded in the companies register of the Commercial Court of Vienna under FN 85749 b
Control area   Regelzone	Geographically defined network system of high and extra high voltage net-
	works, which is organized by a control area manager who is responsible for its
	stability; in Austria there is one control area (APG), in Germany there are four
	control areas (TenneT TSO GmbH, 50 Hertz Transmission GmbH, Amprion
	GmbH and Transnet BW GmbH) and in the Netherlands there is one control
	area (TenneT TSO B.V.).
Control area managers	Responsible party for the power-frequency control in a control area, whereby
Regelzonenführer / Regel-	this function can also be fulfilled by a third-party company based in another
zonenbetreiber	EU member state
CRR   CRR	Regulation (EU) No 575/2013 of the European Parliament and of the Council
	of 26 June 2013 on prudential requirements for credit institutions and invest-
	ment firms and amending Regulation (EU) No 648/2012 ("Capital Require-
	ments Regulation")
Day-ahead market cou-	Refers to the auction procedure in which orders are collected and matched
pling   Day-Ahead Market	against each other, while cross-zone capacity is allocated for different bidding
Coupling	zones on the day-ahead market
Default fund   Ausfall-	In order to further limit CCPA's remaining credit risk exposure to clearing
fonds	
TOTIUS	members, CCPA maintains a pre-financed fund to cover losses that may arise
	from the default of one or more clearing members, including the commence-
	ment of insolvency proceedings against one or more clearing members, and
	that may exceed the losses covered by the clearing collateral
Delivery day   Liefertag	The day on which the physical fulfilment of the traded contracts in electric
	energy takes place
Direct Clearing Members	Clearing members that have the right to clear their own transactions and the
Direkt-Clearingmitglieder	transactions of their clients only
Electricity exchange	Day-ahead electricity exchange transactions concluded by exchange members
transactions   Strombör-	of the Vienna Stock Exchange in its function as a general commodity exchange
segeschäfte	on the spot market for electric energy. This includes spot market products for
	electric power of unknown origin (10:15 a.m. auction for electric power and
	12:00 p.m. market coupling auction) as well as spot market products for elec-
	tric power green electricity (10:15 a.m. auction for electric power green elec-
	tricity)
EMIR   EMIR	European Markets Infrastructure Regulation, acronym for Regulation (EU) No
•	648/2012 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 4 July 2012 on OTC
	derivatives, central counterparties and trade repositories
EXAA   EXAA	EXAA Abwicklungsstelle für Energieprodukte AG hereinafter referred to as
	"EXAA") has been commissioned by the exchange operating company to pro-
	vide and operate the trading system for trading in electrical energy products
	and resulting exchange transactions. In addition, EXAA has been approved as
	a nominated electricity market operator (NEMO) for the purposes of the uni-
	form day-ahead market coupling by Energie-Control Austria für die Reguli-
	erung der Elektrizitäts- und Erdgaswirtschaft (E-Control) by way of official no-
<b>–</b> 1 – 1 – 1	
Exchange members   Bör-	Companies admitted as members to the Vienna Stock Exchange in its function
semitglieder	as a general commodity exchange. Exchange membership is governed by §§
	28 et seq Austrian Stock Exchange Act

# ccpd

central
counterparty
austria

Exchange operating com- pany   Börseunternehmen	Wiener Börse AG, with its registered office in Vienna and the business address Wallnerstraße 8, 1010 Vienna, recorded in the companies register of the Com- mercial Court of Vienna under FN 161826 f
Financial Counterparty   Finanzielle Gegenpartei	Means a financial counterparty within the meaning of Article 2(8) EMIR
General Clearing Mem- bers   General-Clearing- mitglieder	Clearing members that have the right to clear transactions of Non-Clearing Members (this includes their own transactions and those of their clients). A distinction can be made between General Clearing Members with an exchange membership and those without an exchange membership. General Clearing Members without an exchange membership are not exchange members and may not trade at the Exchange, but only participate in the clearing of transac- tions. General Clearing Members with an exchange membership are exchange members and may additionally clear their own transactions and those of their customers
General Terms and Condi- tions of EXAA   Allge- meine Geschäftsbedin- gungen der EXAA	The umbrella term for the terms and conditions issued by Wiener Börse AG as a general commodity exchange for trading in electrical energy products. These include in particular the "Rules for Participation in Trading in Electric Energy", the "Rules for the Clearing and Settlement of Exchange Trades in Electric En- ergy", the "Trading Conditions for Spot Products Electric Energy" and the "Schedule of Fees of Wiener Börse AG"
JAO (Joint Allocation Of- fice S.A.)   JAO (Joint Allo- cation Office S.A.)	Joint Allocation Office S.A. manages for the CORE TSOs the allocation of avail- able transmission capacity to the market, presents available transmission ca- pacity to the market, allocates transmission capacity to individual market par- ticipants, manages secondary market activities and calculates the invoice amount and manages the financial flows related to these activities
Market coupling   Market Coupling	Mechanism for the purpose of the integration of electricity markets through coordinated pricing and allocation of transmission capacities
Market coupling counter- party   Market Coupling Gegenpartei	A NEMO or its central counterparty commissioned with the settlement in ac- cordance with Article 68 CACMR, who is involved in the market coupling and on the basis of market coupling contracts or local (non-cross-market) transac- tions settles market coupling transactions with CCPA
NEMO   NEMO	a nominated electricity market operator; a functional unit that has been des- ignated by the competent authority for the exercise of tasks in relation to the uniform day-ahead market coupling or the uniform intraday market coupling, whereas EXAA has been designated by Energie-Control Austria for the regula- tion of electricity and natural gas industry (E-Control) as NEMO for the exercise of the uniform day-ahead market coupling
Non-Clearing Members   Non-Clearingmitglieder	Exchange Members that participate in exchange trading but are not clearing members and do not take part directly in clearing but have instead concluded a clearing service agreement with a General Clearing Member as a client
Official publication me- dium   Veröffentlichungs- organ	Used to disseminate important information relating to CCPA mentioned in § 38 unless otherwise provided for in the Austrian Stock Exchange Act, the General Terms and Conditions of Business of EXAA or in these General Terms and Conditions. The official publication medium (Bulletin) is available on the website of Wiener Börse AG at <u>www.wienerboerse.at</u> , which also contains a link to the website of CCPA ( <u>www.ccpa.at</u> )
Schedule   Fahrplan	Document that specifies the extent to which electric power as a projected mean power value is supplied and withdrawn or exchanged between

balancing groups in a constant time pattern (measurement periods) at certain
network points
A central bank or an authorized credit institution, which according to CCPA's
internal assessment bears a low level of credit and market risk and conducts
the settlement of payment instructions
A functional unit with the task of transferring net positions between different
central counterparties; the task can either be fulfilled by a transmission system
operator or by the central counterparty itself
Each day on which an electricity exchange transaction can be carried out with
the exchange operating company
A natural or legal person or a registered partnership, which is responsible for
the operation, maintenance and, if required, the expansion of the transmis-
sion system and, if applicable, the interconnection with other systems, as well
as for ensuring the long-term capability of the system to meet a reasonable
demand for the transmission of electricity
The trilateral agreement is concluded between CCPA, the General Clearing
Member and the Non-Clearing Member and regulates essential aspects of the
clearing process which require the cooperation of the three contracting par-
ties. These include, in particular, the schedule nominations, the invoicing and
information and evidence obligations in connection with the clearing partici-
pation

### § 2 Objective and scope

(1) These General Terms and Conditions regulate the clearing of electricity exchange transactions concluded in trading of cash market products for electric energy on the Vienna Stock Exchange as a general commodity exchange. The exchange operating company charges CCPA as the clearing house pursuant to § 9 para. 3 of the Stock Exchange Act with the clearing of these electricity exchange transactions. For this purpose, EXAA as NEMO delegated the clearing and settlement tasks of a central counterparty mentioned in Article 68 CACMR to CCPA in accordance with Article 81 CACMR. CCPA has the right to charge clearing members fees for clearing services in accordance with the Schedule of Fees Spot Market Products in Electric Energy of CCPA published in the official publication medium.

(2) The objective of these General Terms and Conditions is to ensure the fulfilment of electricity exchange transactions together with the Clearing and Settlement Rules Electric Energy. The clearing systems used for this purpose process the electricity exchange transactions pursuant to the clearing calendar.

(3) In these General Terms and Conditions, CCPA shall define the procedures and framework for the organization of clearing, the clearing processes, the handling of default events and the depositing and realisation of clearing collateral and contributions to the default fund and makes further general regulations.

### § 3 Clearing house and clearing systems

(1) As clearing house, CCPA is responsible for the clearing, risk management, the handling of defaults, the declaration of technical defaults of the clearing members and for performing all other tasks assigned within the scope of these General Terms and Conditions. CCPA shall maintain anonymity between clearing members in accordance with Article 68 para. 2 of the CACM Regulation.

(2) CCPA shall act as central contractual party for all clearing members, i.e. it enters into all electricity exchange transactions as counterparty, hence as seller or buyer. Electricity exchange transactions executed via the trading system are solely concluded between CCPA and the respective clearing member, if applicable considering the market coupling counterparty within the scope of the uniform day-ahead market coupling. In the case of electricity exchange transactions of Non-Clearing Members concluded via the trading system, the General Clearing Member enters into the transaction at clearing level and is liable for the financial fulfilment. The Non-Clearing Member is responsible for the physical fulfilment of the electricity exchange transaction and remains the invoice addressee. The invoices are submitted to the General Clearing Member.

- (3) CCPA shall be responsible for the electronic clearing; therefore, it is responsible for
  - a) The financial clearing of the electricity exchange transactions including invoicing,
  - b) The physical fulfilment of the electricity exchange transactions by submitting schedules,
  - c) The issuing of cash instructions to the clearing facilities as well as the verification of the results,
  - d) In the event of default pursuant to § 29, the determination of the occurrence of a default and the determination of a technical default pursuant to § 30,
  - e) The calculation, administration and realisation of the clearing collateral,
  - f) The administration, collection and realisation of the default fund, and
  - g) The monitoring of the creditworthiness of clearing members.

(4) Each exchange member that takes part in trading of spot market products in electric energy on the Vienna Stock Exchange as a general commodity exchange shall ensure the clearing of its electricity exchange transactions by participating in clearing (be it directly as a clearing member or indirectly as a Non-Clearing Member) and shall have a valid Clearing relationship with CCPA at all times, with CCPA being under the obligation to clear the electricity exchange transactions concluded by the exchange member.

(5) Clearing shall be conducted through automated clearing systems. clearing members receive technical access to the clearing systems based on the clearing agreement that shall be concluded with CCPA. All costs for setting up the technical facilities for taking part in clearing and for connecting to the clearing systems including the data lines shall be borne by the clearing member.

(6) Clearing Members shall at all times comply with the technical requirements, guidelines and instructions of CCPA as well as follow any related orders without delay. CCPA shall be entitled to inspect the technical facilities at any time to ascertain proper working order. In case of an improper working order that has or may have an impact on the clearing systems, CCPA shall be entitled to suspend the clearing member's access to CCPA's clearing systems.

(7) Clearing Members shall refrain from any behaviour that may have a negative influence on the clearing systems and could disrupt the operation of the clearing systems. Clearing members shall immediately notify CCPA if the clearing is restricted or not possible at all, especially when due to technical disruptions.

#### § 4 Finality provisions

(1) CCPA shall be responsible for the clearing of payment and/or cash transfer orders resulting from the clearing of electricity exchange transactions as system operator within the meaning of § 14c Austrian Settlement Finality Act. The system is governed by Austrian law and has been notified to the European Securities and Markets Authority by Oesterreichische Nationalbank as a designated system pursuant to § 2 para. 2 of the Austrian Settlement Finality Act.

(2) Participants in the system are CCPA as central counterparty and clearing house and its settlement bank as well as the clearing members and their account-holding banks ("system participants").

(3) Payment and/or cash transfer orders shall be deemed entered and irrevocable as of the time of the conclusion of the electricity exchange transaction in the EXAA trading system (trade confirmation as the time of entry pursuant to § 10 para. 2 Austrian Settlement Finality Act and as the time of irrevocability pursuant to § 15 para. 1 third sentence Austrian Settlement Finality Act). Financial settlement takes place on the clearing day based on the created payment instructions.

(4) Payment and/or cash transfer orders shall be legally binding as of the time of entry pursuant to para. 3 and shall be valid even in the event of the opening of insolvency proceedings against the assets of a participant in the system. Settlements made on the basis of payment and/or cash transfer orders shall not be affected by the opening of insolvency proceedings and may not be revoked by a participant in the system or by a third party with effect for the system. The possibility of raising objections is regulated in § 35 of these General Terms and Conditions.

## Part II Participation in clearing

### § 5 Clearing members and Non-Clearing Members

(1) All exchange members participating in electricity exchange transactions on Wiener Börse as a general commodity exchange must be clearing members or Non-Clearing Members. The transactions are concluded between CCPA and the exchange member in whose name the transaction was executed. Those exchange members who do not seek clearing membership themselves must appoint a General Clearing Member who is responsible for the financial settlement of their transactions, they participate in the clearing as a Non-Clearing Member. The Non-Clearing Member shall remain responsible for physical fulfilment in accordance with part V of these General Terms and Conditions.

(2) Clearing members are participants in clearing who have entered into a clearing agreement with CCPA and have thereby acquired membership of CCPA with all rights and obligations for direct participation in clearing. A clearing member may be either a Direct or General Clearing Member.

(3) Non-Clearing Members are participants who use the services of a General Clearing Member for the financial clearing of their transactions. They participate indirectly in the clearing. Non-Clearing Members, General Clearing Members and CCPA enter into a trilateral agreement that governs, among other things, accounting, schedule nominations and information obligations. The conclusion of the trilateral agreement is a mandatory prerequisite for the indirect participation in the clearing of the Non-Clearing Member.

(4) Non-Clearing Members must enter into a clearing service agreement with a General Clearing Member that specifies the entry of the General Clearing Member into their transactions pursuant to § 6 para. 5 at the clearing level and regulates the establishment and maintenance of the required cash collateral account and securities collateral account pursuant to § 15.

### § 6 Membership in clearing

(1) Applicants for a membership as a clearing member shall prove to CCPA that at the time they obtain membership they meet all requirements of these General Terms and Conditions as well as all provisions of the law and that they have the required technical facilities and connections to the clearing systems. The admission criteria are published on the website of CCPA.

(2) Clearing Members shall notify CCPA without delay in writing of any changes that concern their membership or the compliance with the admission criteria. General Clearing Members are additionally obliged to promptly notify CCPA in writing of any change concerning their Non-Clearing Members, in particular concerning their exchange membership.

(3) CCPA shall be entitled to check at any time if the conditions for admission as a clearing member (still) apply. Clearing members shall provide the required information. For this purpose, clearing members shall provide CCPA with all relevant materials and documents, which prove that the applicant meets the requirements of these General Terms and Conditions as well as all applicable provisions of the law.

(4) Clearing Members shall comply with the Austrian Stock Exchange Act, these General Terms and Conditions and the General Terms and Conditions of EXAA as well as any other national or international legal provisions relating to the execution, clearing and settlement of electricity exchange transactions, all as amended. As for the uniform day-ahead market coupling, the additional clearing and settlement conditions in accordance with Article 68 CACMR shall apply.

(5) The General Clearing Member declares and undertakes under the trilateral agreement to enter into and clear the electricity exchange transactions of their Non-Clearing Members.

### § 7 Admission requirements

(1) Direct Clearing Members shall be members of the Vienna Stock Exchange as a general commodity exchange pursuant to § 2 of the Rules for Participation in Trading in Electric Energy, whose company is commercially operating in relation with electric energy. Direct Clearing Members are only entitled to settle transactions from their own exchange membership for their own account.

(2) General Clearing Members do not have to be members of the Vienna Stock Exchange as a general commodity exchange if they only clear the transactions from the exchange membership of their Non-Clearing Members. General Clearing Members must be members of the Vienna Stock Exchange as a general commodity exchange if they also clear their own transactions.

(3) Non-Clearing Members are members of the Vienna Exchange as a general commodity exchange pursuant to § 2 of the Rules for Participation in Trading in Electric Energy that do not maintain their own contractual relationships with CCPA (with the exception of those specified in § 5 para. 3 of these General Terms and Conditions) and make use of the services of a General Clearing Member for the clearing and separate processing of their transactions. They participate indirectly in the clearing.

(4) Before taking up clearing activities, each clearing member shall conclude a clearing agreement with CCPA, undergo a credit assessment according to § 24 and provide proof to CCPA that it

- a) Has made the required contribution to the default fund,
- b) Has provided the required minimum amount of clearing collateral,
- c) Has installed the required technical facilities including access to the clearing systems,
- d) Has the professionally trained staff required (clearing diploma) according to the requirements of the Schedule of Fees Spot Market Products in Electric Energy of CCPA,
- e) Has provided the required direct debit authorization, the list of authorized signatories as well as the pledge declarations for the financial clearing,
- f) Assumes the function of a balance responsible party in the control area where clearing takes place itself or has a valid contract with a balance responsible party (confirmation of membership in a balance group), which enables it to participate in clearing with CCPA,
- g) Has a valid authorization of the competent authority to act as a balance responsible party or a valid balancing group contract in the control area where clearing takes place, in each case including proof of its unchanged validity at the time of the application,
- h) The required cash collateral accounts and, optionally, cash collateral accounts and/or securities collateral accounts are available pursuant to § 15, and
- i) Belongs to one of the categories pursuant to § 2 para. 1 or 2 of the Austrian Financial Collateral Act.

(5) The admission requirements pursuant to § 7 para. 4 lit. f and g do not apply to General Clearing Members without exchange membership. The admission requirements pursuant to § 7 para. 4 lit. f and g must be fulfilled by the Non-Clearing Member. More detailed fulfilment and proof obligations are regulated in the trilateral agreement.

(6) Upon request of CCPA, the clearing member shall submit the relevant proof (e.g. legal opinions) on the effective establishment of the clearing collateral at its own expense. Hence, clearing members that are not covered by § 2 Financial Collateral Act, shall provide legal opinions acceptable to CCPA and in particular

confirming the finality, security in the event of insolvency and possibility of realising the clearing collateral in the individual case prior to the onboarding process.

(7) The Vienna Stock Exchange as a general commodity exchange, EXAA and CCPA shall cooperate in the examination of the prerequisites for participation in the clearing of electricity exchange transactions. The aforementioned parties shall exchange the information required for the ongoing determination of the prerequisites for participation in clearing within the scope of the admission procedure and during the exchange and clearing membership. Admission applicants are obliged to provide the required information to the aforementioned parties.

### § 8 General Clearing Membership

(1) General Clearing Members with exchange membership are those clearing members which, in addition to clearing their own transactions, are also entitled to clear transactions of Non-Clearing Members for the account of the Non-Clearing Members. They enter into the transactions of these Non-Clearing Members at clearing level and are liable for financial fulfilment. General Clearing Members without exchange membership enter into the transactions of their Non-Clearing Members at clearing level, but do not conduct their own transactions on the general commodity exchange. General Clearing Members must have in any case eligible own funds within the meaning of Art. 4 par. 1 no. 71 CRR in the amount of at least EUR 5.000.000,00.

(2) General Clearing Members, if they are exchange members, are obliged to keep separate records and clearing accounts for themselves and in any case for their Non-Clearing Members, if any, and to have them set up in such a way that it is possible to distinguish between their own transactions, calculated collateral requirements and position limits and those of their Non-Clearing Members.

(3) For Non-Clearing Members, the deposit of clearing collateral is deposited either in omnibus cash collateral accounts and securities collateral accounts or optionally in segregated cash collateral accounts and securities collateral accounts with the collateral custodian. For a Non-Clearing Member, the clearing collateral posted on segregated cash collateral account and securities collateral account shall be used exclusively to collateralise the electricity exchange transactions concluded by the relevant Non-Clearing Member. In the event that segregated cash collateral account and securities collateral account are not maintained, the General Clearing Member shall notify CCPA of the portion of the clearing collateral provided to the relevant Non-Clearing Member and CCPA shall record it in the clearing system as the corresponding position limit of the Non-Clearing Member.

### § 9 Termination and suspension of the clearing agreement

(1) A clearing member may, without stating reasons, withdraw from taking part in clearing and may terminate the clearing agreement being effective the following trade day by unilateral declaration sent to CCPA in writing. If the clearing member is an exchange member, CCPA then immediately notifies EXAA and the exchange operating company of the termination, which will be deemed to be an application for the suspension of admission to the exchange membership pursuant to § 7 para. 3 of the Rules for Participation Electric Power. EXAA and the exchange operating company shall be informed immediately of the termination of a General Clearing Member without exchange membership.

(2) The withdrawal and termination of membership shall only take effect after all electricity exchange transactions for which the clearing member is responsible have been fulfilled and all obligations resulting from its Exchange and clearing membership, if any, have been fulfilled including taxes and fees. Proof of this is incumbent upon the clearing member and shall be enclosed with the declaration in accordance with para. 1.

(3) When the exchange operating company declares the termination, expulsion or suspension of the exchange membership of a clearing member or Non-Clearing Member, then as of the time CCPA receives the declaration of the exchange operating company on the termination, expulsion or suspension of exchange membership of a clearing member or Non-Clearing Member, CCPA shall not accept any electricity exchange transactions from the clearing member or Non-Clearing Member. This shall apply mutatis mutandis also in cases in which the clearing agreement has been terminated according to para. 1.

(4) If the exchange operating company declares the termination, exclusion or suspension of the exchange membership of a Non-Clearing Member, the Non-Clearing Member must notify its General Clearing Member immediately.

(5) CCPA may obtain an immediate suspension of exchange membership by the exchange operating company if the Balance Group belonging to the clearing member or Non-Clearing Member who takes part in the clearing of spot market products for electric energy is either dissolved or abandoned, or a change of the balance responsible party takes place, as long as the new balance responsible party of the Balance Group, to which the clearing member or Non-Clearing Member taking part in the clearing of spot market products for electric energy should belong in the future, has not yet authorized CCPA as the clearing house for data transmission.

(6) The termination of the clearing agreement shall not release the concerned clearing member from the rights and obligations for already concluded electricity exchange transactions in his name and for his account or, in the case of General Clearing Members, additionally for the account of the Non-Clearing Members assigned to it. The termination of the clearing agreement shall effect for exchange members that one of the prerequisites are no longer applicable within the meaning of §§ 34 para. 1 and 36 para. 3 of the Exchange Act as well as §§ 5 and 6 of the Rules for Participation Electric Power. In case of General Clearing Members, the termination of the clearing agreement shall lead to the suspension of the entitlement of the Non-Clearing Members assigned to them to participate in trading as long as they do not become clearing members themselves or provide a clearing service agreement with another General Clearing Member. If a General Clearing Member only resigns its own exchange membership, its own eligibility to participate in trading shall terminate. However, the clearing membership of the General Clearing Member concerned shall remain unaffected, so that the General Clearing Member may continue to clear the transactions of the Non-Clearing Members assigned to it without interruption.

(7) Nonetheless, the withdrawing Clearing Member shall be liable, even if no new contributions have been made to the default fund and after the termination of participation in clearing, with an amount up to twofold the amount of its contribution to the default fund for any cases of default that occurred until the time (day) of its withdrawal, on a pro rata basis in accordance with the provisions to the default fund pursuant to § 27.

### § 10 Dissolution of the clearing agreement by CCPA

(1) CCPA shall have the right to dissolve the clearing agreement for material reasons. Material reasons shall be:

- a) It subsequently turns out that the requirements for the conclusion of a clearing agreement were not met at the time the agreement was executed or if these requirements cease to be given posteriorly,
- b) The clearing member repeatedly violates provisions of these General Terms and Conditions of Business or the law despite having been warned,
- c) When insolvency or similar proceedings are opened or an application to open such proceedings is being dismissed due to a lack of assets or similar measures are ordered,

- d) Reasons exist for the concerned clearing member that may endanger or are a potential risk to the physical and financial fulfilment of electricity exchange transactions,
- e) The concerned clearing member fails to maintain the clearing collateral that is to serve as collateral for its electricity exchange transactions or to collateralise the electricity exchange transactions of a Non-Clearing Member, which the General Clearing Member has undertaken to fulfil, or its contribution to the default fund at the required level or has fallen into default in this respect,
- f) The financial stability of CCPA is at risk or a risk is recognized to the clearing systems or to the orderly execution of clearing.

(2) An immediate termination by CCPA shall take place in writing, stating the reasons. CCPA shall immediately notify the exchange operating company and EXAA of any termination of a clearing agreement.

### § 11 Suspension and termination of a Non-Clearing Member's clearing service agreement

(1) Each Non-Clearing Member is required to have a valid clearing service agreement with a General Clearing Member. A General Clearing Member is entitled to suspend the relevant clearing service agreement with its Non-Clearing Member for a limited period of time if the Non-Clearing Member does not comply with the conditions and obligations agreed in the clearing service agreement or does not comply with them in full or in a timely manner. The General Clearing Member may file the suspension of the clearing service agreement in the clearing system.

(2) The General Clearing Member must immediately notify CCPA of the temporary suspension of the clearing service agreement with a Non-Clearing Member. By doing so, the General Clearing Member declares that it is no longer willing to carry out the clearing of the transactions of the affected Non-Clearing Member. In this case, CCPA shall immediately inform EXAA and the exchange operating company. EXAA shall declare, in accordance with EXAA's General Terms and Conditions that the affected Non-Clearing Member may not execute any transactions for the period of suspension ("Stop Status").

(3) The release of the stop status ("Release function") shall be effected by EXAA and the exchange operating company after appropriate information by CCPA in accordance with EXAA's General Terms and Conditions as soon as the General Clearing Member declares to CCPA that it is again willing to carry out the clearing of the transactions of the affected Non-Clearing Member if the Non-Clearing Member becomes a clearing member or if it provides a clearing service agreement with another General Clearing Member.

(4) As the affected Non-Clearing Member does not have an effective clearing service agreement in place during the temporary suspension, the relevant trading access of the affected Non-Clearing Member shall be suspended with immediate effect by EXAA in accordance with the exchange operating company or, in case of imminent danger, by CCPA. If the temporary suspension of the settlement service agreement is lifted pursuant to para. 3, EXAA shall restore the corresponding trading access of the non-clearing member.

(5) The effects of the suspension of trading access (no further entry or change of orders nor deletion of orders by the Non-Clearing Member in the system) are governed by EXAA's General Terms and Conditions.

(6) Transactions of the affected Non-Clearing Member entered into prior to the suspension shall be duly settled by the General Clearing Member in accordance with these General Terms and Conditions. The affected Non-Clearing Member shall not be entitled to access the clearing systems and their functions during the suspension of the clearing service agreement.

(7) In the event of a suspension of a clearing service agreement or a withdrawal of a suspension, the General Clearing Member shall immediately submit a written statement, including relevant documentation, to CCPA. CCPA shall immediately forward this written statement, including relevant documentation, to EXAA and the exchange operating company. That statement shall contain sufficient information on the facts of the case and the detailed reason for the suspension or revocation.

(8) Any consequences imposed by EXAA and the exchange operating company in the event of a suspension of the clearing service agreement (suspension of the exchange membership of the Non-Clearing Member and/or an exchange exclusion procedure) shall be governed by EXAA's General Terms and Conditions and the Stock Exchange Act ("Börsegesetz 2018").

(9) Any termination of the clearing service agreement by the General Clearing Member shall remain unaffected by the possibility of a temporary suspension. The General Clearing Member shall promptly notify CCPA of the termination of the clearing service agreement, after which CCPA shall notify EXAA and the exchange operating company of the termination of the clearing service agreement. If the obligation of a General Clearing Member to take over the clearing of the transactions of a Non-Clearing Member ends, the Non-Clearing Member shall be obliged to immediately provide the declaration of commitment of another General Clearing Member or to become a clearing member itself. Until then, the Non-Clearing Member's entitlement to participate in exchange trading is suspended. EXAA shall suspend the affected Non-Clearing Member's access to the trading system and delete all open orders in accordance with EXAA's General Terms and Conditions.

### § 12 Compliance with the General Terms and Conditions of Business and of the clearing agreement, passing on of information and data

(1) CCPA shall monitor compliance with these General Terms and Conditions of Business and the clearing agreement. The exchange operating company, EXAA and the clearing facilities shall send information to CCPA that indicates the instances in which these General Terms and Conditions of Business or the clearing agreements have been breached. CCPA shall likewise send to the exchange operating company and EXAA information and data which contains indications pointing to breaches of these General Terms and Conditions of Business or of the clearing agreements.

(2) The clearing members and Non-Clearing Members agree to the transmission of data and information obtained under these General Terms and Conditions of Business or the clearing agreement by CCPA to EXAA, the clearing facilities and the exchange operating company, by the clearing facilities to CCPA, EXAA and the exchange operating company to CCPA, EXAA and the clearing facilities as well as by EXAA to CCPA, the exchange operating company and the clearing facilities and by all of the aforementioned to courts and authorities, in particular, the Austrian Financial Market Authority, the Austrian Central Bank, the European Securities and Markets Authority and E-Control for the purpose of monitoring compliance with these General Terms and Conditions of Business, the clearing agreements and legal provisions as well as the execution of clearing.

(3) The clearing members and Non-Clearing Members agree to release CCPA, the exchange operating company, EXAA and the clearing facilities from the obligation to maintain data secrecy by providing a written declaration, and in case of the clearing facilities, also from banking secrecy pursuant to § 38 Austrian Banking Act for the purpose of admission and for the ongoing determination of the fulfilment of the requirements for the participation in clearing pursuant to § 7, for the execution of clearing and the reporting of suspected violations of these General Terms and Conditions of Business or of the clearing agreement as well as of the other reporting and notification obligations towards courts and public authorities, in particular towards the Austrian



Financial Market Authority, the Austrian Central Bank, the European Securities and Markets Authority and E-Control.

## Part III Market coupling counterparty

### § 13 Market coupling counterparty

(1) For the purpose of fulfilling the obligations from market coupling, CCPA cooperates together with market coupling counterparties in accordance with Article 68 para. 3 CACMR. Market coupling counterparties are not clearing participants within the meaning of these General Terms and Conditions, which is why the provisions of these General Terms and Conditions only apply to them to the extent that this is explicitly stipulated below. The task of the market coupling counterparties is to ensure the timely clearing and settlement of power deliveries between market coupling counterparties from the market coupling auctions.

(2) Market coupling counterparties conclude bilateral, segregated agreements with CCPA which regulate the rights and obligations in connection with their cooperation.

(3) The provisions for collateral requirements in accordance with part VI also apply to market coupling counterparties. However, market coupling counterparties are exempt from the obligation to make contributions to the default fund in accordance with § 27.

(4) In the event of a default of a market coupling counterparty, CCPA shall realise the provided clearing collateral of the market coupling counterparty. If the clearing collateral provided is insufficient to cover the occurred losses or if the clearing collateral cannot be realised, CCPA shall reduce its daily net payments to the clearing members proportionally to the extent that the remaining losses are covered or reclaim payments already made. Any liability of CCPA for a procedure in accordance with this provision shall be excluded.

(5) JAO is entitled to pass on costs to its members (such as CCPA). These costs include, for example, costs due to failures of the auction system, the failure of NEMOs or clearing houses, and claims for damages from trading participants. In the event of a recharge or reduction of JAO payments, CCPA is entitled to reduce its daily net payments to clearing members on a pro rata basis to cover the remaining losses and costs or to recover amounts already paid. Any liability of CCPA for any action taken pursuant to this provision shall be excluded.

## Part IV Financial clearing

### § 14 Clearing facilities

(1) The clearing of electricity exchange transactions, including fees and taxes, and the safekeeping of clearing collateral shall be done by the clearing facilities on behalf of CCPA. Therefore, the clearing facilities shall be responsible for

- a) The timely booking of the payments, provided the cover is sufficient, by the Settlement Bank on the clearing day, whereby the payments are booked on the cash settlement accounts of the clearing members, and
- b) The safekeeping and banking processes administration of the clearing collateral (with the exception of bank guarantees), whereby the clearing collateral is kept with a collateral custodian.

(2) As part of clearing, the clearing facilities shall carry out direct debits (direct debit procedure) from the cash settlement accounts of the clearing members on behalf of CCPA. For this purpose, the clearing members shall grant the clearing facilities a corresponding irrevocable authorization in favour of CCPA for the duration of their participation in clearing pursuant to § 15 para. 2.

(3) The Settlement Bank shall be under the obligation to execute the payment orders through their electronic system. The Settlement Bank does not enter into a contractual relationship of the clearing members and does not assume any liability for their actions or omissions.

(4) The collateral custodians keep in safe custody the clearing collateral that clearing members deposit.

(5) The General Terms and Conditions of Business of each clearing facility shall apply provided they do not contradict these General Terms and Conditions of Business and mandatory law.

#### § 15 Cash accounts and securities accounts

(1) Each clearing member shall maintain a cash settlement account for the financial clearing, which shall meet the following requirements:

- a) For cash settlement accounts of Direct Clearing Members based in the EU or in Switzerland: Set up at an Austrian bank or a credit institute in the EAA (account-holding bank) with the ability to process SEPA B2B direct debits
- b) For cash settlement accounts of Direct Clearing Members based outside the EU or Switzerland: Set up at OeKB AG (account-holding bank)
- c) For cash settlement accounts of General Clearing Members: Set up at OeKB AG (settlement bank)
- d) Guarantee of the processing of direct debits and credits with value date T + 1 in EURO money deposits

CCPA reserves the right, in justified cases and after careful examination, to accept a credit institution other than the credit institution named in lit. b as the account-holding bank, provided that this credit institution meets the requirements pursuant to lit. a and the timely settlement of the electricity exchange transactions is ensured. CCPA may at any time revoke its consent for good cause and request the DCM to open an account pursuant to lit. b. The circumstances specified in § 10 shall apply mutatis mutandis as material reasons.

(2) The clearing member shall expressly agree to SEPA B2B direct debit procedure.

(3) Each clearing member shall provide sufficient clearing collateral for the financial clearing in accordance with part VI in order to cover the risk of default. For this purpose, the clearing member may set up one or more collateral accounts as cash collateral and/or one or more collateral accounts for the safekeeping of security collaterals with the collateral custodians.

(4) In the case of Direct Clearing Members, the cash collateral account and securities collateral account shall be set up with the relevant clearing member as cash collateral account and securities collateral account holder. In the case of General Clearing Members, the required number of collateral accounts and securities accounts shall be determined in particular by the desired account structure (separate cash collateral account and securities collateral account for Non-Clearing Members), which shall be established upon request by the General Clearing Member. General Clearing Members may therefore agree with their Non-Clearing Members to maintain a segregated cash settlement account, cash collateral account and securities collateral account with the settlement bank and the collateral custodians for each Non-Clearing Member. Non-Clearing Members that do not fall under § 2 of the Financial Collateral Act, must provide CCPA with corresponding legal opinions prior to the establishment of the segregated cash collateral account and securities collateral account, which confirm in particular the finality, bankruptcy protection and realisability of the collateral in each individual case.

(5) The General Terms and Conditions of Business of the Settlement Bank shall apply to the cash settlement accounts and the General Terms and Conditions of the collateral custodians shall apply to cash collateral account and securities collateral account.

(6) The cash collateral accounts and securities collateral accounts shall be pledged in favour of CCPA. CCPA shall be granted the sole authorization to give instructions and/or sign on the cash collateral account and securities collateral account. No one else (including the clearing member and Non-Clearing Member) shall have the authorization to dispose or sign regarding these collateral accounts.

### § 16 Financial settlement

(1) The clearing members shall fulfil the financial obligations resulting from their clearing membership and if applicable exchange membership, as well as all obligations deriving from the participation in the uniform day-ahead market coupling, including taxes and fees.

(2) The financial settlement shall be carried out electronically on the cash settlement accounts of the clearing members. Debits shall be carried out using the SEPA B2B direct debit procedure. Credits shall be transferred after deduction of taxes and fees.

(3) Invoices, credits and fees or, where applicable, copies of invoices, credit notes and fees from its Non-Clearing Members resulting from the electricity exchange transactions are made available to the clearing members electronically via the clearing systems.

(4) The clearing member shall be responsible for the timely and sufficient coverage of his cash settlement account and for those of the Non-Clearing Members. For obligations in this regard, reference is made to § 37 of these General Terms and Conditions.

### § 17 Clearing calendar

(1) Transactions shall be settled in accordance with the settlement schedule published by the exchange operating company in the publication organ (settlement calendar). For the purposes of these General Terms and Conditions, a settlement day is any day on which the systems of CCPA are available for settlement. The

settlement day of the respective closed electricity exchange transactions shall be the banking day following a trading day, with the exception of trading days on weekends and public holidays, for which settlement shall take place on the second following banking day.

(2) The settlement calendar shall be drawn up by CCPA in agreement with EXAA and the exchange operating company, taking into account the availability of the settlement facilities. The settlement calendar shall specify all dates and periods essential for settlement, such as settlement days, trading days and delivery days.

(3) As a rule, the settlement calendar shall be drawn up once a year. If special circumstances require it, CCPA shall amend the settlement calendar accordingly in agreement with EXAA and the exchange operating company and taking into account the business hours of the settlement facilities.

(4) The clearing members undertake to ensure appropriate coverage on and access to their cash collateral account and securities collateral account administered by them on all settlement days and to ensure the orderly settlement and collateralisation of the transactions.

## Part V Physical fulfilment

### § 18 Fulfilment of obligations

(1) All exchange members shall be obliged to physically fulfil all liabilities arising from the electricity exchange transactions concluded in their name and on their behalf, if applicable, considering their participation in the uniform day-ahead market coupling.

(2) Exchange Members shall immediately notify CCPA of any changes or a termination of the balancing group contracts which constitute an admission requirement pursuant to § 7 para. 4 lit. f and g.

### § 19 Physical settlement

(1) The fulfilment of electricity exchange transactions is made by the fulfilment of the financial obligations in accordance with part IV of these General Terms and Conditions on the one hand and by the nomination of schedules to the balancing group coordinators, transmission system operators and the balance responsible parties of the exchange members within the scope of physical settlement on the other hand.

(2) With regard to physical settlement (delivery) in the control areas, the exchange members submit to the market rules for handling and administration of schedules for the physical delivery of electric power published by E-Control.

(3) The physical fulfilment of the uniform day-ahead market coupling takes place in accordance with these General Terms and Conditions and the applicable balancing group contracts directly by the market coupling counterparty towards CCPA.

(4) In the relationship between CCPA and an exchange member, the CCPA schedules (as "exchange schedules") are binding and have priority in the event of differing schedules submitted to the balancing group coordinators and transmission system operators respectively.

(5) Within the scope of the uniform day-ahead market coupling, CCPA takes the following aspects into account pursuant to Article 68 para. 4 CACMR:

- a) The net positions pursuant to Article 39 para. 2 lit. b;
- b) The schedule-related exchanges calculated pursuant to Article 49 CACMR.

(6) Performing the tasks delegated to CCPA as the central counterparty by the NEMO, CCPA furthermore ensures in accordance with Article 68 para. 5 CACMR for each market timeframe in the uniform day-ahead market coupling that

- a) Across all Bidding Zones, taking into account, where appropriate, allocation constraints, there are no deviations between the sum of energy transferred out of all surplus Bidding Zones and the sum of energy transferred into all deficit Bidding Zones;
- b) Electricity exports and electricity imports between Bidding Zones equal each other, with any deviations resulting only from considerations of allocation constraints, where appropriate.

Notwithstanding to this, a Shipping Agent may act as a counterparty between different central counterparties for the exchange of energy, if the parties concerned conclude a specific agreement to that effect.

(7) CCPA furthermore participates in the collection of congestion income resulting from the uniform dayahead market coupling pursuant to the Articles 46 to 48 CACMR and contributes to the transfer of the collected congestion income to the transmission system operators two weeks after settlement the latest.

### § 20 Delivery and acceptance conditions

(1) In the relationship between buyer and seller on the one hand and CCPA on the other hand, the exchange members shall be responsible for the physical provision of the traded electric power via the transmission network of the respective control area. The physical fulfilment is carried out separately for spot market products in electric power of unknown origin and spot market products in electric power green electricity through separate CCPA Balancing Groups. If the deliveries should also be carried out for the exchange member in separate Balancing Groups, the clearing member and Non-Clearing Member shall be obliged to notify CCPA of this in writing seven working days in advance.

(2) Pursuant to the General Terms and Conditions for balancing group coordinators or contracts with transmission system operators, CCPA shall be entitled to nominate all schedules for concluded electricity exchange transactions. Only these schedules nominated by CCPA (as "exchange schedules") shall have priority and be binding towards the balancing group coordinators and transmission system operators respectively.

(3) In the event of differences between the schedule value submitted by CCPA and the schedule value submitted by the exchange member, the schedule value submitted by CCPA shall always prevail. The schedules of CCPA shall take precedence over those of exchange members, irrespective of whether CCPA has a priority nomination right in the respective control area pursuant to paragraph 2.

(4) Resulting or remaining differences between the submitted schedule values and the actual quantities upon delivery and/or supply are determined by the balancing group coordinators or transmission system operators for the respective Balancing Group (balancing energy) and are charged to the Balancing Group of the exchange member.

(5) Measures and actions by balancing group coordinators or the transmission system operator are not attributable to CCPA. Any liability of CCPA for measures and actions taken by the balancing group coordinators or the transmission system operator shall be excluded.

(6) In case a difference is attributable to an exchange member, CCPA can withhold payments to the clearing member or levy additional margin calls pursuant to § 25 para. 4 until the difference has been remedied.

(7) The delivery and acceptance deadlines resulting from the concluded electricity exchange transactions are fixed dates pursuant to § 919 Austrian Civil Code (ABGB), in particular with regard to the consequence that the failure to meet the deadline gives the other party the right to withdraw from the transaction without a reminder and without a threat of rejection and, in the event of default, claim damages for non-fulfilment pursuant to § 376 Austrian Business Code (UGB).

(8) This shall not affect the provisions of the uniform day-ahead market coupling, as regulated in §§ 3 paras. 1 and 2 and § 19 paras. 6 and 7 of these General Terms and Conditions.

## Part VI Clearing collateral

### § 21 Providing the required clearing collateral

(1) The clearing member shall be obliged to provide sufficient clearing collateral to cover the liabilities to CCPA, including its function as a central counterparty pursuant to Article 2 no. 42 in conjunction with Article 68 CACMR as part of the uniform day-ahead market coupling. The required clearing collateral results from the transactions of the clearing member and, in the case of General Clearing Members, additionally from the transactions of their Non-Clearing Members.

(2) Where the deposit of clearing collateral in segregated cash collateral account and securities collateral account has not been selected for Non-Clearing Members, the General Clearing Member shall notify CCPA of the amount of clearing collateral to be allocated to the relevant Non-Clearing Member.

(3) The clearing collateral provided for the transactions of Non-Clearing Members, which is held in segregated cash collateral account and/or securities collateral account, serves exclusively as collateral for the corresponding exposures related to the respective Non-Clearing Member.

(4) The required clearing collateral is calculated for the clearing member according to the risk resulting from proprietary and agency transactions from their exchange membership or their assigned Non-Clearing Members separately, taking into account the unsettled electricity exchange transactions including fees and taxes. The calculation of the collateral is based on the assumption that clearing members demand collateral from their clients for their trading activities in at least the same amount as that resulting from the calculation method described in the "Margin Calculation Methodology Electricity Spot Market".

(5) As soon as CCPA becomes aware that the provisions in para. 4 are not being complied with, CCPA may increase the clearing collateral requirements of the clearing member concerned accordingly.

### § 22 Type of clearing collateral

(1) To cover the initial and ongoing risk positions towards its clearing members, CCPA shall accept only highly liquid clearing collateral with minimal credit and market risk. Clearing members may provide their clearing collateral in one or more of the following forms:

- a) EUR cash deposits on a pledged cash collateral account with a collateral custodian, and/or
- b) Transfer of EUR funds to a dedicated account of CCPA (transfer of ownership by way of security), and/or
- c) EUR bank guarantees in the EEA or Switzerland (provided the clearing member is a non-financial counterparty), and/or
- d) Securities on a pledged securities collateral account with a collateral custodian.

(2) The securities and bank guarantees accepted by CCPA shall meet certain criteria. These criteria, as well as provisions on discounts and concentration limits are described in the "Collateral Policy Electricity Spot Market", which is published on the website of CCPA.

(3) To control its risks, CCPA shall have the right to define at any time a different individual or overall composition of the clearing collateral that must be deposited. A change will be considered, for instance, if the creditworthiness of an issuer of a security or bank guarantee accepted as clearing collateral deteriorates or is at risk of deteriorating or if a legal enforceability in accordance with § 7 para. 6 could not be sufficiently proven.

## § 23 Calculation of clearing collateral

(1) The clearing collateral is calculated individually for agency accounts on the one hand and proprietary accounts on the other.

(2) Based on the turnover of the clearing members and their clients (separate consideration) the respective turnover fluctuation and the margin requirement per account category according to the method set out in the "Margin Calculation Methodology Electricity Spot Market" is calculated and shown separately for each delivery day and for each auction that has taken place on the respective trade day.

(3) After each calculation of the margin requirements on the account category level, the results are added up.

#### § 24 Credit assessment

(1) Prior to and for the duration of participation in clearing, each clearing member shall undergo a credit assessment with regard to its current economic and financial situation and shall be assigned to a credit rating category.

(2) The clearing member shall be categorized on the basis of its financial ratios. For the purpose of the calculation of the financial ratios, the clearing member shall provide CCPA with the audited annual financial statements (including notes and the management report) of the last three financial years compiled in accordance with the applicable accounting standards. If the entity was founded less than three years ago, the financial statements available must be provided. If available, ratings of the clearing member by rating agencies and other institutions may be provided to CCPA.

(3) If the financial statements are not available at the time of categorization, CCPA may categorize the member in the lowest credit rating category pursuant to para. 5. When categorizing a clearing member, CCPA may accept upon its separate request standardised letters of comfort from group companies. In this case, these group companies with their respective financial statements and ratings shall be taken into account in the credit assessment.

(4) CCPA may obtain additional evidence and information on creditworthiness such as interim financial reports and media reports as well as reports of national and international rating agencies and use them for the assessment of creditworthiness.

(5) The credit assessment includes the calculation of the classical financial ratios of the clearing members concerned according to the method set out in the "Margin Calculation Methodology Electricity Spot Market". Based on the analysis of the financial statements and information available, the clearing member shall be categorized in the credit rating categories 1 to 5. Category 1 represents a company with the highest credit-worthiness and category 5 a company with a comparatively low creditworthiness. A credit rating lower than category 5 jeopardizes the financial stability of CCPA, which is why CCPA cannot conclude a clearing agreement with the respective potential clearing member in this case or terminate existing clearing agreements for important cause. In the case of financial counterparties, a deviating classification into credit rating categories 1 to 8 is carried out.

(6) For the purpose of the regular assessment of creditworthiness, the clearing member shall submit its audited financial statements to CCPA at the latest within 6 calendar months after the close of its financial year (including the notes and the management report and, if a letter of comfort is available pursuant to para. 3,

also the audited financial statements of the group company) prepared in accordance with the respective applicable accounting standards.

(7) CCPA may review the categorization of a clearing member to a credit rating category at any time.

#### § 25 Margin requirements

(1) The clearing collateral is calculated by CCPA for each clearing member after each auction that took place on the trade day in accordance with the "Margin Calculation Methodology Electricity Spot Market" and § 21 of these General Terms and Conditions and immediately disclosed to the clearing member concerned. CCPA sets the minimum amount of clearing collateral that may not be undercut under any circumstances and publishes this amount on its website. The clearing member shall be obliged to inform itself about the margin requirements and, in the event of a shortfall ("Margin Call"), to increase its clearing collateral unsolicited by the next banking day, 09:30 a.m. CET.

(2) Any shortfall resulting from the 10:15 a.m. auction counts as a "Preliminary Margin Call" and is for informational purposes only.

(3) Any shortfall resulting from the 12:00 p.m. market coupling auction is considered a "Final Margin Call" and shall be covered in accordance with para. 1.

(4) CCPA shall be entitled to request additional clearing collateral ("Additional Margin Call") from the clearing member at any time due to special circumstances that are in the sphere of a clearing member's trading of spot market products for electric energy. These are to be deposited by the clearing member concerned upon CCPA's request pursuant to para. 1.

#### § 26 Position limits

(1) In order to limit the risks of CCPA resulting from the trading in spot market products for electric energy of clearing members and Non-Clearing Members, a participation in trading and clearing shall only be possible within the framework of position limits, which are calculated by EXAA in accordance with para. 3.

(2) For this purpose, CCPA transmits the collateral amounts provided by each clearing member and for General Clearing Members for each allocated Non-Clearing Member to EXAA via the clearing systems, which are then used by EXAA as position limits in the trading system.

(3) Prior to each auction, EXAA calculates the amount of open positions on the basis of the open invoice amounts (credits and debits) resulting from the concluded electricity exchange transactions including taxes and fees as well as the buy and sell orders in its order book valued at indicative prices pursuant to § 21 Rules for the Trading of Spot Market Products for Electric Power. In case the net open positions of a clearing member or a Non-Clearing Member result in a payment obligation which exceeds the clearing collateral provided, EXAA will take measures to reduce risk pursuant to § 21 Rules for the Trading of Spot Market Products for Electric Power, so that the net open payment obligations do not exceed the value of the clearing collateral.

### § 27 Default fund

(1) Irrespective of the clearing collateral to be deposited pursuant to §§ 21 et seq, each clearing member shall contribute the amount defined to the default fund maintained by CCPA.

(2) The contribution shall be made in the form of a EURO cash deposit by transfer to a pledged cash collateral account with a collateral custodian or by transfer to an account maintained by CCPA. The default fund serves exclusively to cover open liabilities in the event of default that cannot be covered fully by the clearing collateral pursuant to §§ 21 et seq, the contribution of the defaulting clearing member to the default fund pursuant to para. 1 and the dedicated own resources of CCPA pursuant to Article 45 EMIR.

(3) The contribution to the default fund shall be subject to a periodic calculation and depends on the exposure of the respective clearing member, while a minimum contribution shall be applied. The calculation method of the default fund is published on the website of CCPA. CCPA also defines the minimum amount below which the size of the default fund is not to fall under any circumstances and publishes this amount on its website. Upon request of CCPA, the clearing members shall make additional contributions to the default fund within three clearing days in accordance with the allocation mechanism defined in the "Default Fund Calculation Electricity Spot Market" in order to replenish the minimum amount.

(4) A clearing member failing to comply with its obligation to transfer the contribution to the default fund or to its replenishment shall be deemed in default on collateral pursuant to § 29 para. 1 lit. b.

## § 28 Release of clearing collateral and default fund contributions as well as offsetting due to realisation or termination

(1) Excess clearing collateral and excess default fund contributions will be released by CCPA upon request of a clearing member after the calculation of the collateral requirements due to the 12:00 p.m. market coupling auction.

(2) Upon request of a clearing member, CCPA will release a bank guarantee provided, as soon as the collateral requirements covered by this guarantee so far are otherwise met.

(3) If the clearing membership is terminated, the obligation to contribute to the default fund shall expire – except in cases pursuant to § 33 para. 3 – either one month after effective termination of the clearing membership or one month after the day, on which all transactions on the accounts of the clearing member or on the accounts allocated to the Non-Clearing Member have been cleared, whichever is the later.

(4) In the event of termination of the clearing membership, the clearing collateral and the contributions to the default fund shall be only refunded after all obligations of the clearing member concerned resulting from clearing membership and from any default to CCPA that has already occurred have been settled with CCPA (see also § 9 para. 7). Clearing collateral allocated to or deposited for Non-Clearing Members in segregated cash collateral accounts and securities collateral accounts will only be provisioned after the obligations entered into for these Non-Clearing Members have been fulfilled.

(5) In the event of realisation or termination, CCPA shall have the right to determine the value of the financial obligations between itself as the central counterparty and the clearing member concerned by net-ting/offsetting, so that the party with the higher liabilities shall pay the calculated net balance to the other party. CCPA shall be entitled to net/offset the financial obligations incurred on behalf of Non-Clearing Members against the clearing collateral allocated to or deposited in segregated cash collateral accounts and securities collateral accounts for the respective Non-Clearing Member or the value substituted for it accordingly.

(6) Offsetting due to termination shall also be effective pursuant to § 9 para. 1 Financial Collateral Act, even when insolvency or liquidation proceedings, reorganization procedures or a similar procedure have been initiated or are still ongoing against the assets of the clearing member or Non-Clearing Member and the rights

that are subject to the offsetting as a result of termination have been assigned or have been seized by court or other order or have been otherwise disposed of.

(7) The offsetting as a result of termination may be carried out without prior warning, judicial approval or consent, without auction and without having to observe a waiting period.

## Part VII Default

### § 29 Definition and occurrence of default

- (1) A clearing member shall be deemed in default in the following cases:
  - a) If the clearing member's cash settlement account with the account-holding bank fails to show sufficient cover to meet payment obligation by 08:00 a.m. CET on the clearing day ("default on payment");
  - b) If its or any cash collateral account and/or securities collateral account maintained for a Non-Clearing Member does not sufficiently cover a shortfall in the clearing collateral within the period specified in § 25 or if the clearing member fails to comply with a request to change the composition of the clearing collateral within the period set by CCPA and within the deadline pursuant to § 22 para. 3 or fails to comply with a request to replenish realised clearing collateral within the period pursuant to § 32 para. 4 or if the clearing member does not meet its obligation to transfer the contribution to the default fund at CCPA within the period pursuant to § 27 para. 3 ("default on collateral");
  - c) If a clearing member fails to fulfil other obligations pursuant to these General Terms and Conditions ("other default").

(2) Clearing members shall be obliged to immediately notify CCPA if obligations pursuant to §§ 16 para. 1 and § 18 cannot be fulfilled or the compliance with these or other obligations is jeopardized. This applies in particular in the event of impending insolvency or impending over-indebtedness of a clearing member.

(3) Clearing members are given notice of default by CCPA either electronically or in writing.

#### § 30 Technical default

(1) If CCPA has reason to believe that one of the defaults listed in § 29 para. 1 is not based on an insolvency or inability to render performance, that the default was not caused intentionally, and the clearing member will fulfil its obligations without delay, CCPA may declare the clearing member to be in technical default ("technical default"). In case of technical default, CCPA may refrain from a default notification to the exchange operating company and EXAA pursuant to § 31 para. 1. CCPA shall have the right to withdraw a technical default at its discretion.

(2) After the declaration of a technical default, the clearing member concerned shall submit a written statement to CCPA without delay stating the reasons for the default.

(3) The clearing member in technical default shall eliminate the causes of the technical default sustainably and without delay.

(4) CCPA may take recourse to a clearing member to recover any losses it incurs, or another clearing member incurs due to the technical default.

#### § 31 Consequences of default

(1) If a clearing member is in default pursuant to § 29 para. 1 or has sent a notification pursuant to § 29 para. 2, CCPA shall immediately inform the exchange operating company and EXAA ("default notification"). The measures imposed in this case by the exchange operating company (suspension of the right to participate in trading for all exchange members which take part in the clearing through the clearing member in default; initiation of expulsion proceedings against the exchange member) and EXAA (blocking the access to the trading

system for the affected exchange members; cancellation of all open orders in the trading system) result from the General Terms and Conditions of EXAA. In the event of a technical default, the special provisions of § 30 shall apply.

(2) From this point in time, CCPA shall retain the credit-side cash balances of the clearing member concerned as additional clearing collateral.

### § 32 Realisation of clearing collateral

(1) Upon the occurrence of a default pursuant to § 29, CCPA shall be entitled to realise collateral together with the cash balances pursuant to para. 3 lit. a and bank guarantees pursuant to para. 3 lit. b, securities collateral pursuant to para. 3 lit. c as well as the default fund contributions of the defaulting clearing member to cover all remaining outstanding liabilities pursuant to § 29 para. 1 and § 21 para. 1, including fees pursuant to the fee schedules of CCPA and the exchange operating company as well as damages caused by the clearing member or the Non-Clearing Members. The clearing member shall be informed about the realisation of its collateral by CCPA.

(2) Clearing collateral provided for Non-Clearing Members in segregated cash collateral accounts and/or securities collateral accounts shall be realised exclusively in satisfaction of the relevant claims against the clearing member pursuant to para. 1 in relation to the relevant Non-Clearing Member.

(3) The realisation of the collateral shall be carried out in the following order:

- a) EUR cash collaterals and all cash balances that would result in a credit on the cash settlement account of the clearing member on the actual clearing day;
- b) Bank guarantees;
- c) Securities collateral;
- d) All contributions of the defaulting clearing member to the default fund pursuant to § 27.

(4) If the clearing collateral provided by a clearing member is realised by CCPA, the clearing member shall replenish its clearing collateral without delay, otherwise a default on collateral pursuant to § 29 para. 1 lit. b) shall be declared.

(5) CCPA shall have the right pursuant to § 6 Financial Collateral Act, to carry out the realisation of the clearing collateral including the cash balances pursuant to para. 3 lit. a and the securities collateral pursuant to para. 3 lit. c as well as the contributions of the defaulting clearing member to the default fund pursuant to para. 3 lit. d as it may deem appropriate without requiring any further consent of the clearing member, without the need for a judicial order or consent to the terms of realisation and without conducting an auction, without prior warning or any waiting period observed. The realisation or valuation of the collateral shall be carried out by CCPA according to the principles of fair trade practice at the market price of the collateral on the day of realisation or valuation. After full coverage of all open liabilities and any margin obligations for additional collateral or contributions to the default fund, any surplus shall be given to the clearing member or credited to its account. In the event of realisation, CCPA shall realise the collateral provided by the defaulting clearing member only to the extent necessary and in the order specified in para. 3.

(6) In the event of default, CCPA can increase the collateral requirement pursuant to § 25 para. 4. The amount and duration of the increased amount at risk shall be defined by CCPA.

(7) Realisation shall also be permitted, if insolvency or liquidation proceedings, reorganisation procedures, business supervision or a similar procedure has been initiated or is still ongoing against the assets of the clearing member or Non-Clearing Member.

### § 33 Coverage of uncovered losses

(1) When the realisation of the clearing collateral and the contributions to the default fund of the defaulting clearing member pursuant to § 32 have been completed and additional liabilities of a clearing member remain unsettled, CCPA shall use own dedicated resources pursuant to EMIR.

(2) Insofar as the own dedicated resources used in accordance with para. 1 are not sufficient to cover the loss, CCPA has the right to use the default fund contributions of all other clearing members. CCPA shall proceed in the following order:

- a) Calculate the preliminary amount of the remaining open liabilities of the clearing member, compare it with the remaining default fund and calculate the percentage share of the liabilities;
- b) Realise the contributions to the default fund of all clearing members in the amount of the percentage calculated;
- c) Cover all open liabilities from the realised contributions.

If, after the realisation of the default fund contributions of all other clearing members, there are still outstanding liabilities of the defaulting clearing member, CCPA shall use an additional amount of pre-funded allocated own funds in accordance with Article 9 para. 14 CCPRR, the calculation of which shall be based on Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2023/840. After exhausting these additional own funds, CCPA may make use of § 33 para. 3, namely the provision of new contributions to the default fund up to two times the amount of the previous contribution.

(3) Realised default fund contributions shall be replenished by each clearing member within five banking days by making new contributions to the default fund up to the twofold amount of the previous contributions in accordance with the request by CCPA, unless the clearing member informs CCPA about the termination of its clearing membership by the end of the third banking day after the realisation of the default fund contributions defined by CCPA the latest. § 9 para. 7 shall apply accordingly.

(4) The amounts remaining after coverage of all open liabilities shall be returned to the clearing members in the corresponding percentages by CCPA within five banking days after the provision of new contributions to the default fund pursuant to para. 3.

(5) Should a defaulting clearing member provide the resources it owes fully or in part after CCPA has realised the default fund contributions of other clearing members, CCPA shall refund these to other clearing members in proportion to their realisation.

## Part VIII Final provisions

### § 34 Complaint management

(1) Clearing members and Non-Clearing Members ("complaining parties") may submit complaints to CCPA in writing in connection with the provision of services by CCPA or the fulfilment of obligations under these General Terms and Conditions to CCPA (by e-mail to <u>complaints@ccpa.at</u> or by using the form on the website <u>www.ccpa.at/en/complaint</u>).

(2) CCPA shall conduct an investigation within a reasonable period of time (maximum of 15 banking days) and may request further information and materials from the complaining party, if necessary. After conclusion of the investigation, CCPA shall send the complaining party a written statement with regard to the complaint.

(3) The complaining party shall expressly refrain from taking any measures until the complaint proceedings have been closed (pursuant to paras. 1 and 2) and, insofar as permissible, refrain from filing a complaint with a court of law, court of arbitration or call on the intervention of any other public authority.

### § 35 Possibility of objections and court jurisdiction

(1) Objections to the content of a trade confirmation shall be raised immediately to CCPA upon receipt by the clearing member in whose name and on whose account the trade was concluded, but no later than 11:00 a.m. CET on the banking day following the receipt of the trade confirmation, otherwise these shall be deemed approved. The time of receipt by the CCPA is decisive. Objections by the Non-Clearing Members shall be raised accordingly with the General Clearing Member entering into the trade at clearing level without undue delay, but no later than 11:00 a.m. CET on the banking day following receipt of the trade confirmation.

(2) Contrary to the provision in para. 1, no objections to trade are possible against orders submitted by the day-ahead market closing time 12:00 p.m. CET, matched in the day-ahead market coupling and therefore binding (firm) as of 12:00 p.m. CET within the framework of the 12:00 p.m. market coupling auction (Article 47 para. 5 in connection with para. 2 CACMR).

(3) Since CCPA is the contractual party of the electricity exchange transactions, the objections shall also apply to the contractual party of the cover transaction. CCPA shall inform the contractual party of the cover transaction about the objection by the start of trading on the next banking day.

(4) The fact that objections are raised shall not release the respective clearing member from the fulfilment of the obligations arising from electricity exchange transactions. If the clearing member raising the objections has not filed a complaint with the Court of Arbitration of the Vienna Stock Exchange within three banking days after the objections were raised, the contested transaction and the associated cover transaction shall be deemed as mutually accepted.

(5) If the complaint is filed with the Court of Arbitration of the Vienna Stock Exchange, CCPA shall inform the contractual party of the cover transaction on the fourth banking day after the objections have been raised and, after receipt of the statement of complaint, request it join as a third-party intervention.

(6) In accordance with the above provisions concerning objections, all disputes arising from or in connection with the fulfilment of electricity exchange transactions including the issue of whether or not a transaction has been concluded between parties shall be decided by the Court of Arbitration of the Vienna Stock Exchange under exclusion of the regular courts of justice and in agreement with the decree of the Federal Ministry of

Finance and of the Federal Ministry for Economic Affairs and Labor as accorded with the Federal Ministry of Justice on the implementation of Art XIII Introductory Law to the Code of Civil Procedure (Rules of Arbitration of Vienna Stock Exchange) Federal Law Gazette II No. 230/2000 in its function as the statutory compulsory court of arbitration.

(7) All other disputes shall be decided by the competent commercial courts of Vienna as the only competent courts.

### § 36 Assignment of rights and obligations

An assignment or transfer of rights and obligations under the clearing agreement or these General Terms and Conditions by a clearing member may only be made with the consent of CCPA. The transfer of clearing membership to another legal entity is not possible.

### § 37 Liability

(1) Clearing members shall be liable to CCPA and to other clearing members for the timely and orderly fulfilment of their obligations in accordance with these General Terms and Conditions as well as for any damage resulting from their violation. General Clearing Members are liable for their Non-Clearing Members.

(2) In the event that a clearing member or a Non-Clearing Member is prevented from carrying out orderly fulfilment (particularly due to technical disruptions), the clearing member concerned shall immediately inform CCPA. The measures initiated by CCPA shall be binding for all clearing members and Non-Clearing Members concerned. CCPA shall not be liable for such measures.

(3) The clearing member and affected Non-Clearing Members shall follow the relevant instructions of CCPA immediately and shall ensure orderly financial clearing as soon as possible.

(4) Any liability of CCPA or its vicarious agents for a damage arising due to circumstances beyond their control or for damage, whose causes are beyond the sphere of control of CCPA or its vicarious agents, shall be excluded. The liability of CCPA and its vicarious agents for the correctness and appropriateness of the measures taken remains unaffected within the scope of the following para. 6.

(5) CCPA and its vicarious agents shall not be liable to clearing members or Non-Clearing Members for any losses, lost profits or damages, unless these losses, lost profits or damages have been caused by wilful conduct or by gross negligence. Liability for consequential damages shall be excluded in any case.

(6) Liability of CCPA and its vicarious agents in connection with the physical fulfilment of electricity exchange transactions shall be excluded if errors or disruptions occur in the transmission network of the transmission system operator that make it impossible to supply or withdraw electric energy or to nominate a schedule due to other unrepresented reasons. If due to legal or regulatory requirements a third party is involved in the scheduling process in a control area, neither CCPA nor its vicarious agents shall be liable for errors or disruptions in the nomination of schedules caused by this third party. CCPA and its vicarious agents shall also not be liable in case the nomination of schedules should be impossible due to the third party.

(7) Unless these General Terms and Conditions expressly provide otherwise, CCPA and its vicarious agents shall in no way be liable to others who are not themselves clearing members for any losses, damages, consequential damages, or lost profits arising from or in connection with the clearing of electricity exchange transactions concluded on the Vienna Stock Exchange as a general commodity exchange.

(8) CCPA and its vicarious agents shall not be liable for damage caused by a disruption of operations due to force majeure, an epidemic, war or natural disasters or due to other events or incidents beyond their control (e.g. strikes, lawful lock-outs, traffic disruptions, official orders) or restraints/acts imposed by sovereign bodies. Any legal action taken by CCPA and its vicarious agents on the instructions of a supervisory authority shall not constitute a breach of these General Terms and Conditions.

(9) The same shall apply to any damage suffered by clearing members and Non-Clearing Members due to technical problems, the partial or complete lack of usability of the clearing system used by CCPA or resulting from errors in the input of data in the course of clearing or in the administration of the records on the clearing collateral lists and the contributions to the default fund deposited, insofar as the damage has not been caused by wilful intent or gross negligence of CCPA or its vicarious agents.

### § 38 Official notices

(1) Unless otherwise specified pursuant to the Exchange Act, the General Terms and Conditions of Business of EXAA, which also include the Rules for the Trading of Spot Market Products for Electric Power and the Rules for Participation Electric Power, or these General Terms and Conditions, official notices concerning CCPA shall be published in the official publication medium (bulletin) of the exchange operating company on its website (<u>www.wienerborse.at</u>) to which a link has been set up from the website of CCPA (<u>www.ccpa.at</u>).

(2) These General Terms and Conditions, any amendments to it as well as the Schedule of Fees Spot Market Products in Electric Energy of CCPA shall be published in the official publication medium.

(3) The General Terms and Conditions of Business of the exchange operating company Wiener Börse AG shall apply to the entry into force of official notices published in its official publication medium.

#### § 39 Supplements and applicable law

(1) Should any individual provisions of this clearing agreement be or become fully or partially invalid or unenforceable, the validity or enforceability of the other provisions shall not be impaired.

(2) Invalid provisions shall be replaced by such provisions, which come as close as possible to the intended economic effect.

(3) This clearing agreement shall be governed by, and construed in conformity with, Austrian law, with the exception of its conflict of laws provisions.

### § 40 Amendments to these General Terms and Conditions

(1) Amendments to these General Terms and Conditions shall be disclosed by publication in the official publication medium. The amendments shall be deemed accepted, as long as no objection is raised in writing within 14 days.

(2) The refusal of consent to reasonable and acceptable amendments to the General Terms and Conditions resulting from such an objection shall constitute a material reason for the termination of the clearing agreement by CCPA with immediate effect.